Page 1 of 13

FILED 01-11-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Appeal No. 23AP1707

VILLAGE OF BUTLER,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

BRANDON J HERNANDEZ

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED IN CIRCUIT COURT CASE NUMBER 22TR4349 ON SEPTEMBER 7. 2023 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY, THE HON. LLOYD V. CARTER PRESIDING

Respectfully submitted,

BRANDON J HERNANDEZ, Defendant-Appellant

MADELINE MONIEN, SBN: 1131555 Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant Johnen & Holevoet Law Offices, LLC 316 W. Washington Avenue, Suite 225 Madison, WI 53703 (608) 229-1630

	PAGE

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. DID MR. HERNANDEZ CONSENT TO HAVING HIS BLOOD DRAWN THROUGH RELEVANT WORDS, GESTURES, OR CONDUCT?

THE COURT ANSWERED NO.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument would be appropriate in this case only if the Court concludes that the briefs have not fully presented the issues being raised on appeal.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Defendant-appellant recognizes that this appeal, as a one-judge appeal, does not qualify under this Court's operating procedures for publication. Hence, publication is not sought.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 21, 2022, Mr. Hernandez was cited for Refusal to Take Test for Intoxication After Arrest by Officer Joseph Benson of the Village of Butler Police Department. Officer Benson initially conducted a traffic stop of Mr. Hernandez's vehicle for allegedly improper lane deviation, driving below the speed limit, and driving with his hazard lights on. <u>Refusal</u> <u>Hr'g.</u> at 7. Following Standardized Field Sobriety tests and a Preliminary Breath Test, Officer Benson arrested Mr. Hernandez on suspicion of Operating While Intoxicated (OWI). <u>Id.</u> at 8-10. Following the arrest, Officer Benson read the Informing the Accused (ITA) form to Mr. Hernandez. <u>Id.</u> at 10-11. Mr. Hernandez expressed confusion, so Officer Benson read the ITA to Mr. Hernandez again. <u>Id.</u> at 12. After the second reading, Mr. Hernandez repeatedly said "I guess, yes" to the officers, and at no point did he say he would not consent to an evidentiary test. <u>Id.</u> at 15. Officer Benson deemed Mr. Hernandez's responses to constitute a refusal. <u>Id.</u> at 11. Officer Benson determined this despite Mr. Hernandez repeatedly saying that he consented to an evidentiary test. <u>Id.</u> at 12.

Officer Benson marked Mr. Hernandez as refusing the evidentiary test because he felt that Mr. Hernandez was not being "sincere." <u>Id.</u> at 13. Officer Benson felt that Mr. Hernandez might change his mind, which he worried could create an issue with the 3-hour time limit for conducting the evidentiary test. <u>Id</u>. Officer Benson therefore marked that Mr. Hernandez had refused the test, despite Mr. Hernandez's repeated verbal consent. At no point was Mr. Hernandez physically resistant, belligerent, or rude to the officers. Id. at 15.

After Officer Benson marked that Mr. Hernandez had refused, Mr. Hernandez again asserted "I said 'yes." Id. at 15.

Mr. Hernandez filed a request for a hearing on the revocation of his driving privileges July 26, 2023. The Refusal Hearing took place on September 7, 2023. <u>Id.</u> at 1. The court held that by asking further questions after the Informing the Accused form had been read and by answering "I guess, yes" rather than "yes," Mr. Hernandez had refused the evidentiary test. Id. at 22-23.

ARGUMENT

I. MR. HERNANDEZ CONSENTED BOTH THROUGH WORDS AND THROUGH WISCONSIN'S IMPLIED CONSENT STATUTE.

Mr. Hernandez clearly consented to an evidentiary test under Wisconsin law. "In determining whether consent was given, we employ a two-step process. First, we examine whether relevant words, gestures, or conduct supports a finding of consent. Second, we examine whether the consent was voluntarily given." <u>State v. Mitchell</u>, 2018 WI 84, ¶ 20 (internal citations excluded) (reversed on other grounds).

Further, "a person who operates a motor vehicle is deemed to have given consent to one or more tests of his or her blood, breath, or urine upon the request of a law enforcement officer if the person is arrested for a drunk driving offense." <u>State v. Faust</u>, 2004 WI 99, ¶ 28; <u>State v. Krajewski</u>, 2002 WI 97, ¶ 19. Implied consent "is no less sufficient consent than consent given by other means." <u>State v. Brar</u>, 2017 WI 73 ¶ 20. "An individual's consent given by virtue of driving on Wisconsin's roads, often referred to as implied consent, is one incarnation of consent by conduct." <u>Id.</u> at ¶ 21 "We reject the notion that

implied consent is a lesser form of consent. Implied consent is not a second-tier form of consent." Id. at \P 23. "Any analysis of a driver's consent under Wisconsin's implied consent law must begin with [the] presumption" that any driver who avails themselves of the roads of Wisconsin consents through conduct to a blood draw. Id. at \P 29. In Brar, the Wisconsin Supreme Court determined that Brar had consented to an evidentiary test when he said "of course" when asked if he would submit to an evidentiary test. The Court determined that by driving on Wisconsin roads Brar had impliedly consented to an evidentiary test, and that his answer "of course" to the ITA was a reaffirmation of his consent. Id. at 34-35.

The case law in Wisconsin is clear, and affirmatively demonstrates that withdrawals of consent must be unequivocal, and that ambiguous attempts at withdrawing consent do not actually withdraw consent. "An intent to withdraw consent must be made by an unequivocal act or statement." <u>State v. Wantland</u>, 2014 WI 58., at ¶ 33, citing <u>United v.</u> <u>Sanders</u>, 424 F.3d 768, 774 (8th Cir. 2005) (quoting <u>United States v. Gary</u>, 369 F. 1024, 2026 (8th Cir. 2004); See also, <u>State v. Reed</u>, 2018 WI 109, at ¶ 79. Further, in analyzing whether consent has been withdrawn, the court in <u>Wantland</u> determined that, in referring to a briefcase found in the trunk of a car which was being searched, consent to search was not withdrawn due to ambiguity when the defendant asked the officer "got a warrant for that?" <u>State v. Wantland</u>, at ¶ 42-43. This standard was again applied in <u>Brar</u>, where the Court held that consent was not withdrawn by asking whether an officer needed a warrant for a blood draw. <u>State v. Brar</u>, at ¶ 36-37.

In this case, Mr. Hernandez impliedly consented through his conduct by driving on Wisconsin's roads, and actively consented through his affirmative language and actions.

After listening to the Informing the Accused, Mr. Hernandez told officers that he did not understand the form and asked several follow up questions, such as "I don't understand?" "What should I do?" "Can someone explain it to me?" <u>Refusal Hr'g. at 18</u> The responding officers re-read the ITA to Mr. Hernandez. When officers asked Mr. Hernandez for his final answer, Mr. Hernandez responded "I guess, yes I guess yes." <u>Id</u>. During the entire interaction, Mr. Hernandez never said "no" or otherwise declined to submit to an evidentiary test. <u>Id</u>. During their interaction, Mr. Hernandez told officers he would consent to the evidentiary test at least three times prior to them marking him as a refusal. <u>Id</u>. Mr. Hernandez become belligerent with officers, become physically resistant, or rude with officers. <u>Id</u>. His words and actions clearly demonstrated Mr. Hernandez consented to the test, and at no point did he unequivocally revoke that consent.

Therefore, by law, Mr. Hernandez voluntarily consented to have his blood drawn. By driving on Wisconsin roads Mr. Hernandez impliedly consented to an evidentiary test. Once he was read the ITA, Mr. Hernandez expressed confusion but ultimately agreed to the test. He repeatedly said "yes" when asked if he consented, and when officers mistakenly believed he had refused, Mr. Hernandez attempted to correct them. Mr. Hernandez's words and actions clearly reaffirmed his implied consent, and at no point did he unequivocally revoke that consent. For the above reasons, this Court should find that Mr. Hernandez did not refuse the evidentiary test.

II. THE CASES CITED BY THE PLAINTIFF DURING THE REFUSAL HEARING ARE EASILY DISTINGUISHABLE FROM THE PRESENT CASE AND WERE WRONGLY RELIED UPON BY THE CIRCUIT COURT. At the refusal hearing, the prosecution relied heavily upon <u>State v. Rydeski</u> and <u>County of Ozaukee v. Quelle</u>, both those cases are easily distinguishable from this case and should not have been relied upon by the Circuit Court when making its determination. 214 Wis. 2d 101; 198 Wis. 2d 269 (Wis. Ct. App. 1995).

A. <u>State v. Rydeski</u> is distinguishable from the present case because Mr. Hernandez never revoked consent and was cooperative with officers throughout the stop.

In <u>Rydeski</u>, the defendant, Rydeski, initially agreed to submit to an evidentiary test and was transported to State Patrol headquarters to submit to an Intoxilyzer breath test. 214, Wis. 2d 101, 104. Once there, Rydeski repeatedly demanded to use the restroom and then refused to submit to the breath test until he used the restroom. <u>Id.</u> at 105. The officer subsequently marked Rydeski as a refusal and allowed him to use the restroom. <u>Id</u>. After the officer had already marked Rydeski as a refusal, Rydeski attempted to agree to take the evidentiary test. <u>Id</u>. The Court of Appeals held that a verbal refusal is not required, and that conduct can serve as the basis for a refusal. <u>Id.</u> at 106. The court held once a person has properly been read the ITA, they "must promptly submit or refuse to submit to the required test," and that "a person's refusal is conclusive" and not subject to recantation. <u>Id</u> at 109. The court, however, did not define what promptly meant.

The distinctions between the present case and <u>Rydeski</u> are obvious. In the present case, Mr. Hernandez asked a handful of follow-up questions before ultimately stating that he consented to the evidentiary test. Mr. Hernandez was not uncooperative. Nor, did Mr. Hernandez condition his consent on his ability to do something, such as use the bathroom.

Mr. Hernandez, said "I guess yes." Not, "Yes, if.." This is clearly different from <u>Rydeski</u>, where the defendant initially agreed to an evidentiary test but subsequently refused to submit to the test unless he got to use the bathroom. <u>Rydeski</u> unequivocally revoked his consent through his words and conduct. Mr. Hernandez simply tried to understand the consequences of his consent and then ultimately consented. Additionally, the court in <u>Rydeski</u> concerned itself extensively with recantation of a refusal, recantation is unimportant in the present case because Officer Benson did not mark Mr. Hernandez down as a refusal until after he had agreed to the evidentiary test several times.

B. <u>County of Ozaukee v. Quelle</u> is not relevant to the present case as the defense does not argue that the Officer's were required to cure Mr. Hernandez's confusion about the ITA.

At the refusal hearing the prosecutor explicitly cited <u>Quelle</u>, and another unnamed case applying <u>Quelle</u>, arguing that inability to understand the ITA is not a defense to refusal. <u>Refusal Hr'g.</u> at 21-22. While the defense does not disagree with that interpretation of <u>Quelle</u>, it is irrelevant to the present case. The plaintiff simply argues that after reading the ITA the first time, Mr. Hernandez expressed confusion. Officer Benson chose to re-read the ITA to him and give him the benefit of the doubt. After the second reading Mr. Hernandez then repeatedly consented to the evidentiary test, but Officer Benson did not believe it was sincere, so he marked Mr. Hernandez as a refusal. Officer Benson did not mark a refusal because Mr. Hernandez was confused, nor does the defense argue that. Additionally, the facts in <u>Quelle</u> support the finding that Mr. Hernadez did consent. In <u>Quelle</u>, the officers not only read the form to the defendant, but they allowed her to ask follow-up questions

for 45 minutes and still deemed her to have consented. <u>Quelle</u> attempted to challenge the voluntariness of the consent with a confusion defense. But the Court of Appeals in <u>Quelle</u> still found that her consent was valid and voluntary despite that confusion. Mr. Hernandez asked questions because he did not understand the form. As <u>Quelle</u> found there is no duty for officers to cure confusion but confusion does not make a person's consent involuntary.

By driving on Wisconsin roads, Mr. Hernandez is presumed to have consented to the blood draw. For that presumption to be negated, Wisconsin case law requires that Mr. Hernandez, through words or actions unequivocally withdraw his consent. "Unequivocal" means, "Certain. Not doubtful. Without ambiguity. Clear, sincere; plain." Ballentine's Law Dictionary (2010). A defendant's questions regarding the process of a search do not rise to the level of an unequivocal revocation of consent. Therefore, the Circuit Court's ruling to the contrary is clearly erroneous.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above, the judgment of the court should be reversed, and this action should be remanded to the Circuit Court with instructions to rescind the 12- month revocation of Mr. Hernandez's license and dismiss the refusal charge.