Case 2023AP001707 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-12-2024 Page 1 of 9

FILED 03-12-2024

CLERK OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT APPEALS

Village of Butler

Plaintiff-Respondent

Appeal No. 12-AP-1707

VS.

Circuit Court Case No. 22-TR-4349

Brandon Hernandez

Defendants-Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY THE HONORABLE LLOYD V. CARTER PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Submitted by:

Christopher R. Schultz, SBN 1073998

MUNICIPAL LAW & LITIGATION GROUP, S.C. Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent 730 N. Grand Ave.

Waukesha WI 53186

Ph. 262-548-1340

cschultz@ammr.net

#

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the trial Court commit a reversible error by finding that the defendant,

Brandon Hernandez refused to submit to an evidentiary chemical test of his blood?

Answer and brief summary:

No. The parties stipulated at the refusal hearing that the defendant was properly arrested for an OWI violation. Video of the arrest shows the arresting officer read the statutorily required Informing the Accused form, verbatim, twice and repeatedly asked for a yes or no response from the defendant. The defendant, however, responded not with an affirmative "yes" or "no" and instead responded with questions for approximately six minutes. After being told that his failure to provide a yes or no would be treated as a refusal, the defendant stated, "I guess yes". By refusing to promptly provide a response, the defendant refused to submit to the test by his conduct.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Plaintiff—Respondent, Village of Butler, does not believe oral argument is necessary in this matter. The Village believes the appellate briefs as well as the record of the Circuit Court are sufficient for this Court to decide the only issue properly before this Court on appeal; namely the factual question of whether there was or was not a refusal to provide an evidentiary blood sample following a verbatim reading of the Informing the Accused form.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment entered on September 7, 2023, by the Waukesha County Circuit Court, the Lloyd V. Carter presiding determining that the defendant, Brandon Hernandez, had refused to provide an evidentiary sample of his blood following an arrest for operating while intoxicated. R. App. at 24 - 26. At the refusal hearing, the parties stipulated that Officer Benson had probable cause to stop Mr. Hernandez's vehicle and to arrest him for an OWI offense. Id. at 6. The sole contested issue was a factual question of whether or not Mr. Hernandez refused to provide a test sample. Id. Officer Benson's interactions with Mr. Hernandez on September 7, 2023, were captured by his department issued body camera and the relevant portion of that video was played at the refusal hearing and admitted into evidence by the court. Id. at 12 – 13.

Officer Benson's body camera video from September 7, 2023, showed that after the first reading of the informing the accused form, concluding with, "will you submit to an evidentiary chemical test of your blood?" Mr. Hernandez responded by stating, "what do you mean?" Mr. Hernandez asked multiple questions of the officers while failing to respond to whether or not he would submit to an evidentiary test. Id. at 12 - 13. Approximately two minutes after concluding reading the informing the accused and asking whether Mr. Hernandez would submit to the test and receiving no affirmative answer from Mr. Hernandez, the officers re-read the form. Following the second reading of the form, Mr. Hernandez again responded with questions rather than an affirmative answer.

Case 2023AP001707 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-12-2024 Page 5 of 9

After approximately two more minutes of questions from Mr. Hernandez and Mr. Hernandez being told repeatedly that the officers needed a "yes" or "no" response, Mr. Hernandez stated, "I guess yes." Id. at 12 - 13.

At the refusal hearing held on September 7, 2023, the court ruled that the failure to provide a distinct yes or no amounts to not being a "yes" and amounts to a refusal. Id. at 25.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT MR.
HERNANDEZ REFUSED BY ACTION TO SUBMIT TO AN
EVIDENTIARY CHEMICAL TEST OF HIS BLOOD.

The law in Wisconsin is clear. Upon reading the informing the accused form and asking an arrested subject whether or not they will provide an evidentiary sample of their breath, blood or urine, a person must promptly consent to or refuse the test. "The obligation of the accused is to take the test promptly or to refuse it promptly." *State v. Neitzel*, 95 Wis.2d 191, 205 (Wis. 1980). Further, "There is no obligation upon the law enforcement authorities to renew the offer to take the test, even though the time within which the test may be admissible the two-hour period after the arrest has not yet expired." *Id.* While the time period for admissibility of an evidentiary test may have changed since *Neitzel*, the obligation of person arrested for OWI and read the informing the accused form to promptly take or refuse the test has not. In the instant case, Mr. Hernandez neither promptly agreed to submit to the test nor refused with an affirmative "no".

Case 2023AP001707 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-12-2024 Page 6 of 9

Rather, his refusal came in the form of repeatedly peppering the officers with questions instead of an affirmative answer as to whether or not he would submit to the test.

The defendant's reliance on *State v. Brar*, 376 Wis.2d 685 (Wis. 2017), is inapposite. In *Brar*, the defendant attempted to suppress his blood test result by claiming that his response of, "of course" when asked whether he would submit to the test did not constitute consent. The court, correctly, held that his response did establish consent. Mr. Hernandez can point to no such definitive response in the record establishing his consent. Rather, he contends that by operating his motor vehicle on the roads of the state, he had impliedly consented to have his blood drawn and that he never unequivocally revoked that consent. Mr. Hernandez willfully ignores his multiple failures to respond to repeated requests for an affirmative answer.

That position has not been correct since the United States Supreme Court decided *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 US 141 (2013) requiring a warrant for non-consensual blood draws. If Mr. Hernandez is correct that implied consent absent an unequivocal withdrawal is sufficient consent, then *McNeely* is incorrect and a warrant should not be required. If Mr. Hernandez is correct that implied consent absent an unequivocal withdrawal is sufficient, then there would be no need to read the informing the accused form prior to a test. If Mr. Hernandez is correct that implied consent absent an unequivocal withdrawal is sufficient, then any

Case 2023AP001707 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-12-2024 Page 7 of 9

driver arrested for OWI could simply remain silent indefinitely or ask the arresting officer unrelated question indefinitely to avoid a refusal.

The defendant's argument elides the fact that each and every time the officer asked for an affirmative response and Mr. Hernandez failed to provide one was a discrete and separate refusal. The officers were under no obligation to ask for an affirmative response multiple times or to read the informing the accused form more than once. The defendant imagines that each time the officers provided Mr. Hernandez with another opportunity to consent, they negated his prior refusal to do so. They did not. The defendant is attempting to turn the officers' patience and indulgence over the course of many minutes of equivocation and refusal to answer a simple yes or no question to his advantage. He should not be allowed to do so. Even if the officers had not deemed Mr. Hernandez's repeated refusals to provide an affirmative answer to constitute a refusal; had they transported him to the hospital and had he submitted to a blood draw, the undersigned village attorney would still have had the officers serve and file a notice of intent to revoke based upon his prior repeated refusals to promptly submit to or refuse an evidentiary test.

The Village concedes that the cases it cited at the refusal hearing, *County of Ozaukee v. Quelle*, 198 Wis.2d 269 (Wis. Ct. App. 1995) and *State v Rydeski*, 214 Wis.2d 101 (Wis. Ct. App. 1997), are factually distinguishable from the instant case. The cases were cited not necessarily for factual similarity with the instant matter but for the proposition that refusal need not be made verbally and rather can

Case 2023AP001707 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-12-2024 Page 8 of 9

be done through conduct or silence and that confusion over the informing the accused form is no defense to a refusal. Further, the Village also cited to State v Rydeski, 214 Wis.2d 101 (Wis. Ct. App. 1997) for the proposition that subsequent consent cannot cure a prior refusal because, in the instant case, Mr. Hernandez failed to respond to repeated requests for a yes or no answer for several minutes before providing an equivocal (at best) response of, "I guess yes". The *Rydeski* court stated, "[A] A person's refusal is thus conclusive and is not dependent upon such factors as whether the accused recants within a "reasonable time," whether the recantation comes within the three-hour time period provided in § 885.235(1), Stats., or whether administering the test at a later time would inconvenience the officer or result in a loss of the test's evidentiary value. Therefore, Rydeski's willingness to submit to the test, subsequent to his earlier refusal, does not cure the refusal." *Id.* at 109. Mr. Hernandez's eventual, equivocal statement of, "I guess yes" did not cure his prior refusals to respond affirmatively to the officer's requests and his earlier refusals would have been prosecuted even if he had eventually submitted to the requested test.

## **CONCLUSION**

The circuit court correctly determined that Mr. Hernandez's multiple minutes of questioning and equivocating constituted a refusal by action. The law is clear that anything other than a prompt yes when asked to submit to an evidentiary chemical test constitutes a refusal. This court need only review the

Case 2023AP001707 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-12-2024 Page 9 of 9

very brief exhibit admitted at the September 7, 2023, refusal hearing to see that for itself. The Village of Butler respectfully requests that this Court affirm the circuit court's finding of an improper refusal.